STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 06 2019

CALVIN TERRELL WILLIAMS,

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001839

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief, where two prior federal crimes were used against Petitioner to sentence him to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, where the state served notice that it was seeking life without the possibility of parole, where those two crimes did not qualify as predicate offenses, and where trial counsel failed to object to the sentence of life without the possibility of parole?

STATEMENT

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner on the charges of bank robbery and accessory before the fact to bank robbery in May 2016. App. 549 – 550. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury on June 6, 2016. App. 1. Barry Barnette served as the solicitor, and Matthew Shealy represented Petitioner.

After a three-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty of bank robbery. App. 355 l. 24 – App. 356 l. 3. The state had served a notice of life sentence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(a), and Judge Couch sentenced Petitioner to life. App. 356 l. 17 – App. 359 l. 13; App. 368 ll. 11 – 16. Petitioner’s sentence was affirmed. State v. Williams, Op. No. 2017-UP-395 (S.C. Ct. App. filed October 18, 2017).

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on January 8, 2018. App. 370 – App. 399. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, including the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the notice of life without parole. App. 377. The state made its Return on or about April 18, 2018. Ap. 401 – 407.

An evidentiary hearing took place before the Honorable Grace Knie on June 18, 2018. App. 408. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner, and Megan Jameson and Jordan Cox appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner, Petitioner’s son, trial counsel, and the solicitor testified at the hearing. The PCR court took the matter under advisement and requested post-hearing memoranda. App. 506 l. 7 – App. 507 l. 10. Both parties submitted memoranda. App. 509 – 525.

Judge Knie signed an Order of Dismissal closely resembling the state’s memorandum which was filed on August 7, 2018. She found that trial counsel “cannot be deemed constitutionally ineffective for failing to challenge his sentence” because Petitioner “was

properly noticed, served, and sentenced to life without the possibility of parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45.” App. 533. ,

Counsel for Petitioner filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment on August 17, 2018. App. 538 – 539. The state filed a Return to the Motion on or about September 21, 2018. App. 540 – App. 544. An Order Denying Applicant’s Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment closely resembling the state’s Return was filed on September 29, 2018. App. 545.

This Petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying relief, where two prior federal crimes were used against Petitioner to sentence him to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, where the state served notice that it was seeking life without the possibility of parole, where those two crimes did not qualify as predicate offenses, and where trial counsel failed to object to the sentence of life without the possibility of parole.

Relevant facts

After the jury's verdict was read, the trial court recognized defense counsel as sentencing began. App. 356 ll. 20 – 22. In response, counsel simply stated: "Your Honor, we have nothing to say." Id. Regarding two prior bank robberies which the solicitor suggested qualified as most serious offenses, defense counsel articulated: " I don't think we can argue that .. he was not convicted of those two prior armed bank robberies. This would be - - these are serious offenses. We have no legal basis for objection to that." App. 359 ll. 10 – 13. As noted, Petitioner was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.

The facts giving rise to Petitioner's arrest as alleged by the state at trial are as follows: Petitioner's sixteen year old son, Shyquone Williams (hereinafter "Shyquone"), went into a BB&T bank in Spartanburg, South Carolina on January 22, 2015. He handed the teller a handwritten note that read:

This is an armed robbery. This is an armed bank robbery. I demand \$40,000 in large bills with no bands around the money. No dye packs. No bait money. No tracking devices. I want all the money placed in my book bag. No silent alarms. If you obey me nobody will get hurt.

App. 166 l. 13 – 171, l. 4. Because there was no book bag, the teller put approximately two thousand dollars in envelopes, along with a dye back, and gave it to Shyquone. App. 173, l. 18 –

175, l. 9. The defense's theory of the case was that Shyquone acted alone in robbing the bank and lied to Petitioner about his need to go to the bank to pick up money from someone that day. App. 162, l. 1 – 163, l. 22.

After his initial arrest, Shyquone repeatedly denied that his father had any involvement in the bank robbery. App. 198, ll. 11-16; App. 199, l. 23 – 201, l. 12. However, he eventually told the police that the robbery was Petitioner's idea, that Petitioner told him how to write the demand note, and that Petitioner procured their ride to the bank. App. 188, l. 17 – 195, l. 16; App. 198, ll. 17-25. Shyquone admitted that he walked from the van where Petitioner and the driver were waiting and robbed the bank. On his way back to the van, the red dye pack in the money exploded. App. 195, l. 17 – 196, l. 3. When he got to the van, Petitioner asked Shyquone whether he "had it" and Shyquone responded "no, he wasn't there." App. 196, ll. 4-7. The driver dropped them off near Quail Pointe apartments, where they were later apprehended by police. Shyquone claimed that Williams threw Shyquone's stained clothing into the bushes and gave him an orange hoodie to wear. App. 196, l. 20 – 198, l. 10.

At trial, the state sought to introduce some documents related to Petitioner's federal pleas under Rule 404(b), SCRE. App. 101 l. 3 – App. 102 l. 3; App. 133 ll. 5 – 10. Prior to opening statements, the state elicited testimony from James Lannamann regarding two prior alleged bank robberies which supposedly involved Petitioner. App. 47 – 84. Dean Cook, a sentencing guidelines specialist at the Federal Probation Office, also testified *in camera* regarding the prior pleas. App. 102 – 121. The presentencing report was entered as Court's Exhibit 5 over an objection that the records did not qualify as public record or report under SCRE 803(8). App. 103 l. 22 – App. 105 l. 24.

The presentencing report contained the pretrial services adjustment section, the offense conduct, and the charges and convictions. App. 110 ll. 1 – 5. Regarding the admissibility of the prior plea information at trial, trial counsel argued:

[I]t doesn't set out what my client allegedly did or didn't do. We have an indictment. That is what my client pled guilty to. That doesn't set out sufficient facts. We don't know what my client claims he did or did not do. I don't believe that there's any competent evidence.

App. 126 ll. 5 – 10. The solicitor, in turn, noted that “Judge Herlong released it. I mean this is information he released by the judge himself. So, to me, there's no question, question we've met the clear and convincing part of it.” App. 127 ll. 13 – 17. The trial judge expressed concern about one of the former offenses “since it's not described in detail in the document,” and indicated that he would “be listening to hear the similarities that might exist between these events” during the state's case-in-chief. App. 140 ll. 1 – 13.

Interestingly, Judge Herlong recalled the federal documents on the third day of Petitioner's trial. App. 291 – 293. Dean Cook, who testified pre-trial, was ordered “not to testify or say anything in Court.” Id. The solicitor moved to withdraw Court's Exhibit 5 “per Court Order by the Federal Court.” Id. The solicitor indicated that the decision “came from Washington.” App. 293 ll. 6 – 7.

Trial counsel never discussed S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 with Petitioner nor showed him a copy of the statute. App. 417 ll. 8 – 11. Petitioner admitted to pleading guilty to two federal bank robbery charges. App. 430 ll. 7 – 12. He served “a little over ten years in federal prison for those sentences.” Id. Petitioner was served with the state's notice to seek life without parole based on those convictions while he was in the county jail, without access to legal resources. App. 430 ll. 17 – 23.

Trial counsel testified that he was appointed to represent Petitioner. App. 452 ll. 20 – 23. Regarding the life without parole (LWOP) notice, trial counsel confirmed that Petitioner was served. App. 457 ll. 3 – 10. He indicated that the two federal armed bank robberies which Petitioner pleaded guilty to served as the qualifying offenses. Id. When asked what research he performed, trial counsel testified that he looked at the statute and then looked at the elements of the indictments. App. 457 ll. 11 – 22. He claimed that the elements of the federal indictments were that there was a taking of money from the person of another while armed with a deadly weapon which he equated to armed robbery in South Carolina. Id.

On cross-examination, trial counsel agreed that the federal indictments used the language “dangerous weapon and device” versus “deadly weapon” in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330. App. 470 l. 21 – App. 472 l. 19. Counsel admitted that he never required the state to put up a witness during sentencing or challenged the life without parole notice. App. 473 ll. 13 – 23. Counsel eventually agreed that he should have forced the state to produce a witness regarding the prior offenses. App. 477 l. 2 – App. 478 l. 7. He remarked that he should have objected to the state making the indictments a court’s exhibit. App. 478 l. 16 – App. 479 l. 7. Further, he did not bring up the discrepancy in elements. App. 473 l. 24 – App. 474 l. 7.

At the evidentiary hearing, the solicitor reiterated Judge Herlong recalled the federal bank robbery documents:

I contacted the U.S. Attorney’s Office. They gave me the information concerning the offenses. At first we had the FBI agent testify that actually worked the cases that then - - we needed additional information, according to Judge Couch.

I contacted Dean Cook, which is one of the probation officers at that time. He’s now an attorney here in our circuit. At that time, he was a, a probation agent for them.

... I was getting ready - - went out for lunch, and I got a phone call from Mr. Cook saying you cannot use any of the documents. Judge Herlong has ruled that

he is gonna take the documents back. I've never had this situation happen in my career, and hopefully it will never happen again.

So I had to go down and I let Mr. Shealy know. We went back in chambers, and told him that I had to make a motion to withdraw all those items, and they had to be returned back to Mr. Cook, and they had to be returned back to the U.S., to the U.S. Courts, which we did, and obviously, none of that was mentioned in front of the jury. It was in pretrial motions.

App. 484 l. 18 – App. 485 l. 22. The solicitor confirmed that the prior plea documents were removed from the record. App. 496 ll. 4 – 8.

In the United States Code, the bank robbery offense for which Petitioner was indicted reads as follows:

(a) Whoever, by force and violence, or by intimidation, takes, or attempts to take, from the person or presence of another, or obtains or attempts to obtain by extortion any property or money or any other thing of value belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management, or possession of, any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association; or

Whoever enters or attempts to enter any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association, or any building used in whole or in part as a bank, credit union, or as a savings and loan association, with intent to commit in such bank, credit union, or in such savings and loan association, or building, or part thereof, so used, any felony affecting such bank, credit union, or such savings and loan association and in violation of any statute of the United States, or any larceny—

Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

(b) Whoever takes and carries away, with intent to steal or purloin, any property or money or any other thing of value exceeding \$1,000 belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management, or possession of any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both; or

Whoever takes and carries away, with intent to steal or purloin, any property or money or any other thing of value not exceeding \$1,000 belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management, or possession of any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both.

...

(d) Whoever, in committing, or in attempting to commit, any offense defined in subsections (a) and (b) of this section, assaults any person, or puts in jeopardy the life of any person by the use of a dangerous weapon or device, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty-five years, or both.

18 U.S.C.A. § 2113.

As correctly pointed out by defense counsel, this is not the equivalent of armed robbery under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330. App. 498 l. 20 – App. 499 l. 16.

Discussion

Upon conviction of a serious offense, a person must be sentenced to LWOP if the person has two or more prior convictions for a serious offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(B). When a prior conviction is for an offense not found in § 17-25-45, trial judges can look to the elements of the prior offense to determine if they are equivalent to the elements of an offense found in the statute for purposes of sentence enhancement. See State v. Lindsey, 355 S.C. 15, 583 S.E.2d 740 (2003); State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 526 S.E.2d 709 (2000).

Near the end of the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel concluded, repeatedly, that he should have objected to the state's attempt to have Petitioner sentenced to life in prison without parole:

Well, my objection would [have] been they can't prove it. I mean, I think [PCR counsel is] right. I ... probably could [have] argued well, they need to prove that - - just like whatever - - a shoplifting case, a person is convicted of shoplifting third or subsequent, they have to prove those other two convictions. Now, that's very easy to do. Again, I think that Mr. Barnette would have been able to prove that, but, at a life without parole case, I probably should have made them prove it.

App. 479 l. 21 – App. 480 l. 8.

In order to prove counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104