STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Grace G. Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001839

---

Calvin Terrell Williams,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF BECAUSE THE FEDERAL ARMED BANK ROBBERY CHARGES TO WHICH PETITIONER PREVIOUSLY PLED WOULD CONSTITUTE BOTH ARMED ROBBERY AND ENTERING A BANK WITH INTENT TO STEAL UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW, SUCH THAT THE PRIOR CONVICTIONS COULD COUNT AS MOST SERIOUS AND SERIOUS “STRIKES” FOR THE PURPOSES OF IMPOSING A MANDATORY SENTENCE OF LIFE-WITHOUT-PAROLE UPON PETITIONER’S CONVICTION FOR HIS LATEST BANK ROBBERY.**

The PCR court properly denied the application for post-conviction relief because Counsel could not be deficient for failing to argue that Petitioner’s prior admissions and convictions for robbing banks “by the use of a dangerous weapon and device, that is explosives” was not functionally equivalent to armed robbery under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. Furthermore, even if some distinction could be wedged between “armed bank robbery” and “armed robbery,” the prior federal charges could also give rise to charges for “entering a bank with intent to steal,” a South Carolina offense for which a court can impose a sentence of up to thirty years, such that it is a “serious” offense under the recidivist statute. Therefore, Counsel exercised reasonable judgment in determining at the time of trial that he had no basis to contest the life-without-parole sentence, his hindsight second-guessing of himself after the fact is of no consequence, and the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied

- a. The recidivist statute provides that prior convictions from other jurisdictions may be relied upon for the purposes of the statute where they would be classified as serious or most serious offenses.**

South Carolina’s recidivist statute provides that where the State gives written notice at least ten days prior to trial, and where a defendant has two prior “serious” or “most serious” convictions, upon a conviction for another “serious” offense, the defendant must be sentenced to a term of imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(B). Alternately, where notice is given and where a defendant has a *single* prior “most serious”

conviction, or two prior “serious” convictions, upon a conviction for another “most serious” offense, a life-without-parole sentence must be imposed. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A).

The offenses classified as “most serious” are specifically listed in the statute, which includes armed robbery. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1). As for “serious” offenses, numerous crimes are specifically enumerated, but the law also includes “any offense which is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment for thirty years or more” which is not already classified as “most serious.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(2)(a).

The State and the courts may rely upon convictions which occurred in a federal or out-of-state jurisdiction, and look to whether the actions taken by the defendant to satisfy the elements of the crime in the other jurisdiction would satisfy the elements of a crime or crimes qualified as “serious” or “most serious” in the recidivist statute. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-25-45(A)(1)(b), -45(A)(2)(b), -45(B)(3); see State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 397-98, 526 S.E.2d 709, 711 (2000) (finding Washington was properly sentenced under the recidivist offender statute where the elements of his prior offense of common law burglary now constituted the offense of first-degree burglary, meaning his prior conviction was the legal equivalent of a “most serious” offense and would have constituted a “most serious” offense pursuant to the statute); Hinton v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services, 357 S.C. 327, 339, 592 S.E.2d 335, 342 (Ct. App. 2004) (noting under the “same-elements” test, when comparing the elements of the offenses, a court ‘looks to whether the particular actions taken by the defendant which satisfy the elements of the crime in the other state would satisfy the elements of one of the enumerated crimes.’”).

Here, the State and the trial court relied upon two prior guilty pleas for conduct in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) and § 2113(d), which provide:

(a) Whoever, by force and violence, or by intimidation, takes, or attempts to take, from the person or presence of another, or obtains or attempts to obtain by extortion any property for money or any other thing of value belonging to, or in the care, custody, control, management or possession of, any bank, credit union, or any savings and loan association; . . . Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

...

(d) Whoever, in committing, or in attempting to commit, any offense defined in subsections (a) and (b)<sup>2</sup> of this section, assaults any person, or puts in jeopardy the life of any person *by the use of a dangerous weapon or device*, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty-five years, or both.

(emphasis added).

“A plea of guilty is an admission or a confession of guilt, and is as conclusive as the verdict of a jury; it admits all matter of fact averments of the accusation.” State v. Allen, 261 S.C. 448, 451, 200 S.E.2d 684, 686 (1973). A guilty plea leaves “no issue for the jury, except in those instances where the extent of the punishment is to be imposed or found by the jury.” Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 468, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2014).

**b. The prior federal bank robbery convictions are comparable to entering a bank with intent to steal, such that they would be classified as “serious” offenses.**

First, all of the elements of the South Carolina offense of entering a bank with intent to steal are encompassed by the fact averments set forth in the indictments to which Petitioner pled guilty in federal court. “It is unlawful for a person to enter a building or part of a building occupied as a bank, depository, or building and loan association with intent to steal money, securities for money, or property, either by force, intimidation, or threats.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-380(A). “Entering a bank with intent to steal is an extremely serious, specialized, theft-related offense. Prior to January 1, 1994, it was punishable by mandatory life imprisonment,

---

<sup>2</sup> For the curious, 18 U.S.C. § 2113(b) replaces the “force and violence” element with a “value exceeding \$1,000” element, and provides for a lesser sentence.

absent a jury recommendation of mercy, in which event the minimum sentence was imprisonment for five years.” McAninch, Fairey & Coggiola, The Criminal Law of South Carolina 376 (6th ed. 2013) (citing State v. Cameron, 311 S.C. 204, 428 S.E.2d 10 (1993)). “Effective January 1, 1994, the maximum was reduced to 30 years.” Id. (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-380).

In pleading guilty to each of the indictments, Petitioner admitted to going into the banks (“... from the person and presence of [building address] . . .”) to steal money (“... did take . . . money . . .”) either by force, intimidation, or threats (“... with force, violence, and intimidation . . .”). As such, Petitioner pled to what would qualify as entering a bank with intent to steal under South Carolina law. Because entering a bank with intent to steal carries a maximum sentencing exposure of 30 years, it qualifies as a “serious” offense under the recidivist statute.

Because the prior federal convictions could be classified as serious offenses, Counsel could not be ineffective for failing to object and argue otherwise.

- c. The prior federal bank robbery convictions are comparable to armed robbery, such that they would be classified as “most serious” offenses, and Petitioner’s effort to distinguish “dangerous” and “deadly” weapons is devoid of support.**

Second, all of the elements of the South Carolina offense of armed robbery are also encompassed by the fact averments set forth in the indictments to which Petitioner pled guilty in federal court. “Robbery is defined as the felonious or unlawful taking of money, goods, or other personal property of any value from the person of another or in his presence by violence or by putting such person in fear.” State v. Moore, 374 S.C. 468, 476, 649 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2007). “A person who commits robbery while armed with a . . . deadly weapon . . . is guilty of a felony[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A). “A deadly weapon is generally defined as ‘any article, instrument or substance which is likely to produce death or great bodily harm.’” State v.

Scurry, 322 S.C. 514, 517, 473 S.E.2d 61, 63 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing State v. Campbell, 287 S.C. 377, 339 S.E.2d 109 (1985)). “Whether an object has been used as a deadly weapon depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case.” State v. Simmons, 360 S.C. 33, 43, 599 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2004).

In pleading guilty to each of the indictments, Petitioner admitted to taking money (“ . . . did take . . . money . . .”) either by force, intimidation, or threats (“ . . . with force, violence, and intimidation . . .”) by the use of a deadly weapon in the form of explosives (“ . . . by the use of a dangerous weapon and device, that is explosives . . .”). As such, Petitioner pled to what would qualify as armed robbery under South Carolina law. Armed robbery is specifically enumerated as a “most serious” offense under the recidivist statute.

Petitioner argues that the prior convictions could not be compared to armed robbery because “the federal crime of bank robbery does not require a deadly weapon like South Carolina’s armed robbery charge.” (Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 10). While it is true that portions of 18 U.S.C. § 2113 contemplate bank robberies not involving deadly weapons, the subsection under which Petitioner pled guilty, and the averred facts admitted by Petitioner through his guilty plea, most definitely do involve deadly, dangerous weapons. 18 U.S.C. § 2113(d). As Counsel noted at the evidentiary hearing, “it says explosives, which – and I would submit to you, in every case, would be considered a deadly weapon in an armed robbery prosecution.” (Appx. 472, ll. 16-19).

Breezily unburdened by precedent, Petitioner contends that “a dangerous weapon and device” is lexicographically and legally distinct from a “deadly weapon.” To the contrary, Black’s Law Dictionary defines “dangerous weapon” as “[a]n object or device that, because of the way it is used, is capable of causing serious bodily injury[.]” which constitutes a class of

objects and devices encompassed by our jurisdiction's conception of a "deadly weapon" as in relation to "great bodily harm." Weapon Definition, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019), available at Westlaw; Scurry, 322 S.C. at 517, 473 S.E.2d at 63. Indeed, Black's recognizes the encompassing overlap in its definition of a deadly weapon. See Weapon Definition, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019), available at Westlaw ("Any firearm or other device, instrument, material, or substance that, from the manner in which it is used or is intended to be used, is calculated or likely to produce death. *In some states, the definition encompasses the likelihood of causing either death or serious physical injury.*") (emphasis added).

Corpus Juris Secundum is clearer in explicitly defining the terms together: "A 'dangerous or deadly weapon' may be defined as one likely to produce death or serious physical injury, when operable, or an object that ostensibly may be used as a tool . . . , but surrounding circumstances indicate that the purpose of carrying the object is its use as a weapon." 94 C.J.S. Weapons § 5. Put simply, any weapon or device that is dangerous is also deadly. Any weapon or device that is deadly is dangerous.

South Carolina jurisprudence accordingly appears to treat the terms "dangerous" and "deadly" as synonymous. See, e.g. State v. Davis, 309 S.C. 326, 343-44, 422 S.E.2d 133, 144-45 (1992) (overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999)) (considering a jury charge which used the phrase "dangerous, or deadly, object" four times before concluding a hand or fist may be considered as a deadly weapon); State v. Wilds, 355 S.C. 269, 584 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 2003) (explaining that "an automobile is regarded as a dangerous instrumentality" such that the use thereof could then be relied upon for a permissive inference of malice instruction).

Federal jurisprudence similarly reflects that “dangerous” and “deadly” weapons are, in effect, one in the same. See, e.g. Prince v. United States, 352 U.S. 322, 324 n.1, 329 n.11 (1957) (quoting the armed bank robbery statute and the “dangerous” language in full in one footnote, then summarily describing the crime as “robbery aggravated by assault with a deadly weapon” in another footnote); United States v. Johnson, 324 F.2d 264, 266 (4th Cir. 1963) (affirming that a chair, and almost any object, may be a dangerous weapon when as used “is likely to produce death or great bodily harm[.]”); United States v. Dayea, 32 F.3d 1377, 1379 n.2 (9th Cir. 1994) (citing to ten cases as examples of “dangerous” weapons, and recognizing the interchangeable character of the terms “dangerous weapon,” “dangerous instruments,” and “deadly weapon”). The use of the total phrase “dangerous or deadly weapon” is not a signal of some legal distinction between “dangerous” and “deadly,” but rather is an antiquated artifact of overly cautious legalese whose only real purpose could be to deter litigators from attempting to argue a distinction that does not exist.

The PCR court properly rejected Petitioner’s contention that Counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that “dangerous” and “deadly” weapons are different. Counsel could not be deficient in failing to make a meritless argument, and even if this Court were to find some merit in such an argument, Petitioner could not be prejudiced as he would still be consigned to life without parole based upon the shared elements of armed bank robbery and entering a bank with intent to steal.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.